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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, 

)  
 
Civil Action No. 0:13-cv-2345-DSD-LIB. 

) 
   ) 
  Plaintiff, ) 
   )  

PLAINTIFF EEOC’S  
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 
 
 
 

 v.  ) 
   ) 
DAVIS TYPEWRITER COMPANY, ) 
   ) 
  Defendant. ) 

 

 Pursuant to the Court’s Pretrial Notice and Order, (ECF Document No. 8), the 

United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) submits this 

statement of its case.   

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Charging Party Tracey Kelley (“Kelley”) was employed by Davis Typewriter 

Company, Inc. (“Defendant”), as a purchaser/in-store staff person from March 11, 2010 

until July 29, 2010.  Kelley, then a 22-year-old recent college graduate, was supervised 

by Defendant’s then-55-year-old Operations Manager Stanley Alm.1   Defendant’s owner 

and President Larry Davis hired Kelley.  Michelle Carlson, Larry Davis’s daughter, is 

also a manager for Defendant.   

On or about July 28, 2010, co-worker Teresa Haberman approached Kelley and 

suggested that she make sure her clothing covers up her chest.  Haberman indicated that 

                                                 
1 During the “meet and confer” on November 25, 2013, Defendant’s attorney advised  the 

EEOC that Mr. Alm passed away on November 4, 2013. 
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she was present for a conversation earlier in the day with two employees in Defendant’s 

IT department, one of whom was Kyle Plantz, who were “disturbed” by how one of the 

security cameras repeatedly followed Kelley around the store and zoomed in on her face, 

chest and body.  Plantz told Haberman that this happens all the time. After discovering 

this, Plantz moved the security camera back to its proper position, but less than an hour 

later he noticed the camera had moved back to focus on Kelley’s workspace, frequently 

zooming in to focus on her face and chest.   

At the end of the day, Plantz approached Kelley and gave her a DVD containing 

hours of footage from one of Defendant’s security cameras from the day before, July 27, 

20102.  Plantz suggested that she watch it at home after work.  Plantz also provided a 

printout of the security camera user logs for that particular camera that showed which 

users had logged into the camera system that day.  The user log confirms that Stan Alm 

had been controlling the camera in question on July 27, 2010.   

Kelley watched the security camera footage.  The video footage initially focuses 

on a wider view of Kelley’s workspace. A few hours in, however, the camera zooms in 

closer to Kelley’s face and chest.  Several times throughout the day, the camera 

repeatedly adjusts to capture Kelley’s movements around her work space and on several 

occasions zooms in so that Kelley’s chest is the only object visible on the screen. At one 

                                                 
2 Kelley provided the EEOC with a copy of this DVD during the administrative 

investigation of Ms. Kelley’s charge.  Defendant was asked to provide copies of security camera 
footage for the same day and other days during Kelley’s employment, but indicated that such 
footage had not been retained.  The EEOC believes that Defendant may be responsible for 
intentional or negligent spoliation of this evidence and will be conducting discovery on that issue 
and, if circumstances warrant, seeking appropriate sanctions or adverse inferences. 
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point the camera pans out and rotates to focus on a much larger area of the office, 

including the workstations of other employees and the retail portion of the premises.  The 

camera remains in this broader position for about 45 minutes until it abruptly moves back 

to Kelley and zooms in on her face and chest.  During the last few hours of the footage, 

the camera pans in and adjusts its focus on Kelley’s chest several times.  As she watched 

the video, Kelley felt increasingly violated, began to cry, was unable to fall asleep that 

night and felt physically sick to her stomach.   

The next day, Thursday July 29, 2010, Kelley went to work at Defendant and 

approached Carlson’s office as soon as she arrived.  Kelley told Carlson about the 

security camera footage and Kelley provided Carlson with the log-in sheet showing that 

Stan Alm had been the one controlling the camera, along with time stamps reflecting 

points on the video where the camera focused or zoomed in on her.  Kelley offered to 

play the DVD for Carlson, but Carlson did not want to see it.  Instead Carlson told Kelley 

that she would discuss the issue with Davis.  Carlson asked Kelley if she was able to 

finish the day, and Kelley told her she didn’t think she could, but that she would finish up 

her last project before she left.  Kelley felt that she was being objectified and watched as 

soon as she arrived at Defendant, and found that seeing Stan Alm was very distracting 

and made it difficult to focus on work.  Kelley had already scheduled the following day 

off (a Friday), and Carlson told her to go home and call her Monday.   

As Kelley prepared to leave, Larry Davis called her into his office.  Davis told 

Kelley that “he had been guilty of the same thing” as Stan Alm.  Davis further told her 

that she was “a very beautiful girl and that men will always look at beautiful women.”  
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Davis told Kelley that he had used the cameras to look at female customers who came 

into the store.  Davis explained that any disciplinary action taken by him wouldn’t be 

taken seriously by employees because he would be “throwing stones in a glass house.”  

Kelley was confused, hurt and astounded by Davis’s response, felt the need to end the 

conversation and left the building.   

After going home, Kelley called Carlson to tell her that she was even more upset 

and disturbed after talking to Larry Davis, and that she would need to think about things.  

Sometime later, Davis directed Stan Alm to call Kelley and apologize for what he had 

done.  Kelley was sickened and upset that Stan Alm called her personally to discuss what 

he did. 

Kelley never called Carlson back and never returned to work at the Defendant 

after leaving on July 29, 2010. She determined that she would not continue working at a 

business that did not take this incident seriously or any measures to prevent it from 

happening again.  Kelley was disturbed as much by Stanley Alm’s behavior as by Larry 

Davis’s response to her complaint, and lost hours of sleep.  Kelley no longer feels 

comfortable in places with security cameras and doesn’t think that will ever change.  

Defendant’s conduct rendered Kelley’s working environment objectively intolerable, and 

allowing her harasser continued and unfettered access to monitor her via Defendant’s 

security cameras demonstrates that her departure was a foreseeable outcome. 

ALLEGATIONS – STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

The EEOC has asserted a cause of action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964.  Specifically, the EEOC claims that Defendant violated § 703(a) of Title VII, 42 
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U.S.C. § 2000e-2 by subjecting employee Tracey Kelly to a sexually hostile working 

environment.  The EEOC intends to present facts to demonstrate that Defendant’s 

response to her complaints of sexual harassment were woefully insufficient and 

contributed to the hostility of the working environment.  Defendant’s sexually hostile 

working environment resulted in Kelley’s constructive discharge. 

PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR DAMAGES 

The EEOC is seeking injunctive relief that will serve to correct past unlawful 

employment practices described in its Complaint, and will seek prospective injunctive 

relief to prevent Defendant from permitting the creation of or the failure to correct a 

sexually hostile working environment in the future.  The EEOC is seeking appropriate 

amounts of back pay with prejudgment interest, rightful place reinstatement or front pay 

in lieu thereof.  The EEOC is also seeking compensation for past and future nonpecuniary 

losses resulting from the unlawful employment practices committed by Defendant, 

including “garden variety” emotional distress, such as humiliation, embarrassment, pain 

and suffering. The EEOC is also seeking punitive damages for Defendant’s reckless or 

malicious conduct.   Due to the size of the Defendant’s workforce at the time of its 

unlawful employment practices, the total amount of compensatory and punitive damages 

recoverable in this matter are limited to $50,000. See 42 U.S.C. § 1981a(b)(3)(A). 

On November 8, 2013, the EEOC sent Defendant a proposed consent decree that 

included both monetary and non-monetary terms for a potential settlement of this matter.  

On November 25, 2013, attorneys for both parties discussed the terms of the proposed 
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consent decree during the “meet and confer” held to prepare the Rule 26(f) report in this 

matter.   

AGENDA ITEM FOR DECEMBER 10, 2013 PRETRIAL CONFERENCE 

 During the meet and confer discussions, Defendant indicated an intent to seek 

medical records from Charging Party Tracey Kelley to discover information it believes is 

relevant to the EEOC’s claim for garden variety emotional distress.  The EEOC indicated 

that it would oppose requests of that nature, citing case law that proscribes an employer’s 

ability to request sweeping and unfettered access to irrelevant medical records.  The 

parties agreed that motion practice will likely be necessary and the EEOC believes that is 

the appropriate forum to present legal arguments needed to resolve the dispute. 

 

Dated:  December 5, 2013    s/Nicholas J. Pladson                                       .  
Nicholas J. Pladson (#0388148) 
Senior Trial Attorney  
 

      Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
Minneapolis Area Office 
330 Second Avenue South, Suite 720 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 
Telephone:  (612) 335-4047 
nicholas.pladson@eeoc.gov  
 
Attorney for Plaintiff EEOC 
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